



Does money grow on trees? Mitigation under climate policy in a heterogeneous sheep-beef sector

# Levente Timar

Motu Working Paper 16-09 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research May 2016

# **Document information**

Author contact details Levente Timar Motu Economic and Public Policy Research levente.timar@motu.org.nz

Acknowledgements

This study has been prepared with funding from the Sustainable Land Management & Climate Change (SLMACC) and Climate Change Impacts and Implications (CCII) research programmes. I thank Suzi Kerr for her valuable feedback, but of course I am alone responsible for any errors and omissions.

#### Motu Economic and Public Policy Research

PO Box 24390 info@motu.org.nz +64 4 9394250 Wellington www.motu.org.nz New Zealand

© 2016 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research Trust and the authors. Short extracts, not exceeding two paragraphs, may be quoted provided clear attribution is given. Motu Working Papers are research materials circulated by their authors for purposes of information and discussion. They have not necessarily undergone formal peer review or editorial treatment. ISSN 1176-2667 (Print), ISSN 1177-9047 (Online).

#### Abstract

I use simulations from the Land Use in Rural New Zealand model to consider mitigation for different classes of sheep-beef farms under climate policy. Farmers in the model can respond to carbon prices by abandoning or afforesting marginal land. In assessing carbon credits against liabilities, I consider only the income a farmer would be able to get with certainty without taking a carbon price risk. Farmers in intensive farm classes tend to bear the costs of emissions because their opportunity cost of exiting pastoral agriculture is high. The dominant land-use response in more extensive systems is land abandonment or afforestation, depending on location. Less profitable farm classes generally face higher average liabilities in relation to profits, both before and after the land-use response. Results indicate that farmers in North Island hill country may benefit most from afforestation opportunities. In this farm class, income from rewards could offset over half of farmers' emission liabilities.

**JEL codes** Q52, Q54, Q58, R14

#### Keywords

Climate change policy, sheep-beef farming, farm classes, mitigation, cost distribution

Summary haiku Ruminating on Methane. Land use will change and Someone's gotta pay.

# **Table of Contents**

1	Intro	duction	1
2	Scope of analysis and methodology		2
3	Data		4
4	Resu	lts	7
	4.1	Land-use response	7
	4.2	Implications for farm profitability	11
5	Conc	lusion	15
Refe	References		
Rec	ecent Motu Working Papers		

# **Table of Figures**

Figure 1: Percentage of private sheep-beef area converting to another use by farm class	9
Figure 2: Percentage of scrub area converting to another use by farm class	10
Figure 3: Simulated net emission liabilities per hectare for sheep-beef farms in 2030 (with and without a land-use response)	12
Table 1: Land use shares (percentage in 2012) by potential farm class	5

Table 2: Sheep-beef land attributes by potential farm class (based on 2012 land use)	6
Table 3: A comparison of mapped sheep-beef area to Beef + Lamb area estimates by farm class in 2012 (hectares)	6
Table 4: National land use areas in 2012 and land-use change under both simulation scenarios (thousand hectares)	. 8
Table 5: Land-use response to policy on private sheep-beef land (thousand hectares)	9
Table 6: Land-use response to policy on scrub land (thousand hectares)	10
Table 7: Simulated pastoral emissions (million tonnes of CO <sub>2</sub> -equivalent)	11
Table 8: Sector-level average profits and emission liabilities (\$) under a hypothetical 2012 policy	11
Table 9: Average profits (\$) and the relative impact of the policy in 2030 (without and with a land-use response) by	7
sheep-beef farm class	13
Table 10: Weighted average profits (\$) and the relative impact of the policy in 2030 (without and with a land-use	
response) by sheep-beef farm class	14

#### **1** Introduction

Methane and nitrous oxide emissions make up about half of New Zealand's overall greenhouse gas emissions. Most of these emissions come from ruminant livestock agriculture. At the same time, much of the land that could be suitable for reforestation is currently pasture used to graze sheep and beef cattle. This unique emissions profile has lead New Zealand's policymakers to consider extending climate change policy to cover emissions from pastoral agriculture. Internalising the cost of those emissions and the mitigation that is likely to occur as New Zealand moves toward a lower net emissions rural sector will have significant effects on farmers, farm owners and rural communities.

Around a third of the country's land area is devoted to sheep-beef farming, and the sector's products constitute about 13% of total merchandise export earnings. The amount of mitigation achievable in pastoral agriculture, the manner in which that mitigation might take place and the degree to which it might disrupt rural sectors and communities are questions of critical importance not only to farmers, butfor the entire New Zealand economy. Two previous Motu studies (Sin et al., 2005; Kerr and Zhang, 2009) deal with the implications of climate policy for rural sectors. However, neither of these papers accounts for the possibility of land-use change that occurs in response to the reduced returns to pastoral agriculture and the increased returns to plantation forestry.

In this paper, I use the Land Use in Rural New Zealand (LURNZ) model<sup>1</sup> to simulate landuse change in response to domestic climate change policy. The model enables a spatially explicit partial equilibrium analysis. I primarily focus on sheep-beef farmers' ability to respond to carbon prices by abandoning previously grazed pasture or by establishing plantation forests on marginal land.<sup>2</sup> I develop a simple framework to calculate the extent to which rewards (carbon credits for new plantation forests) could be used to offset emissions liabilities and then consider the likely impact on profits. The analysis is carried out at the level of representative farm classes that differ systematically in their land-use intensity, profitability and suitability for forestry.

I find that intensive farm classes mitigate little. Farmers in these classes tend to bear the costs of emissions because the opportunity cost of exiting pastoral agriculture would be high – in fact, on high quality land, the policy may generate further conversions to dairy. The dominant land-use response in more extensive systems is land abandonment or afforestation, but opportunities for afforestation are not evenly distributed. Lower profitability systems tend to face higher liabilities in relation to profits, both before and after the land-use response. The

<sup>1</sup> http://motu.nz/our-work/environment-and-resources/lurnz

<sup>2</sup> Adding on-farm mitigation to the suite of available mitigation options would tend to lessen the impact of the policy. Unfortunately, evidence on the costs of potential on-farm mitigation, particularly on sheep-beef land, is still weak so LURNZ excludes this. No major mitigation options other than land-use change have been identified for sheep-beef land.

simulations suggest that farmers in less intensive North Island farm classes are in the best position to take advantage of opportunities presented by carbon rewards. With a 50% free allocation tied to historic emissions, farmers in these areas could, on average, benefit from the policy.

The next section describes the modelling framework. Section 3 provides a brief overview of the data and assesses the suitability of a map of potential sheep-beef farm classes to classify sheep-beef production systems. Section 4 discusses the level of emission liabilities within different farm classes in the sheep-beef sector and the potential for land-use change in each, as well as the likely net consequences for farm profitability in each farm class.

## 2 Scope of analysis and methodology

I simulate land-use change at the 25-hectare scale in LURNZ for two scenarios, baseline and policy, to infer agricultural emissions and forestry credits in 2030. The baseline scenario is used as a counterfactual in which land-use does not respond to the policy. Comparing the two scenarios allows me to assess how the land-use response affects net liabilities in relation to average profits. I group sheep-beef areas by potential farm class to show how the results vary across different types of land.

The LURNZ model is built around econometrically estimated relationships and does not make assumptions about farmers' objectives and decision processes – its results are mostly driven by how land use has responded to its main drivers in the past. The empirical basis of the framework and its limited data needs lend transparency and robustness to the results. LURNZ's underlying datasets and processes have been validated (Anastasiadis et al., 2014), and its results are consistent with data and trends at the national scale, including New Zealand's Greenhouse Gas Inventory (Timar and Kerr, 2014).

At the same time, LURNZ does not explicitly include or enable me to quantify land conversion costs and any resulting changes in profitability. For land that was already on the margin before the policy, the net present value of conversion costs and profit changes is close to zero. Therefore, at low carbon prices, these omitted costs could be expected to be relatively low. If they respond to the policy, farmers must by definition do no worse than they would have done otherwise, so net gains from the land-use response must be positive (irrespective of any omitted costs).

The climate change policy environment specified in this paper is chiefly illustrative. Although motivated by it, the policy is not intended to match New Zealand's proposed (and now indefinitely deferred) ETS for agriculture. In modelling, it is implemented as a \$25 charge per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent emission applied in full from the first simulation year. New Zealand farmers are largely price takers in international markets (Woods and Coleman, 2011), so

2

commodity prices are the same across the scenarios.<sup>3</sup> Mitigation in LURNZ is possible only via land-use change.<sup>4</sup> To allow sufficient time for a land-use response to unfold – a gradual process in reality and in the model – simulation outcomes are evaluated in 2030.

In considering farmers' ability to respond to the policy, emissions and rewards earned for carbon sequestration need to be expressed in comparable terms. To do this, rewards are converted to an annuity, *A*, corresponding to a perpetual flow of income. Similar to Kerr et al. (2012), this is based on rewards, *R*, earned during the first ten years of a newly planted forest:

$$A = \left[\sum_{t=1}^{10} \frac{R_t}{(1+\delta)^t}\right] r$$

A landowner intending a permanent land-use change would be able to sell credits earned during this period without taking a carbon price risk because, if a forest is replanted immediately after harvest, its carbon stock never decreases below this level. In other words, the stock of carbon in a ten-year-old plantation forest represents the amount of sequestration a riskaverse owner would be able to receive reward for with certainty. Rewards earned in future are discounted at a rate  $\delta$ , so the term in brackets represents the discounted net present value of rewards. Deposited in a bank account, this amount of money could earn a risk-free return at rate r. Although it does not relate to physical abatement in specific years, the annuity is relevant for considering ability to mitigate as it captures the theoretical minimum extent to which a riskaverse farmer can offset emission liabilities indefinitely through planting trees.<sup>5</sup>

I assume that only newly planted forests are rewarded with credits for sequestration as part of the policy: there is no windfall gain to owners of existing forests.<sup>6</sup> Further, I focus on plantation forestry – native forest regenerating on abandoned pasture (scrub) is not rewarded. The reasons for this are twofold. First, the potential gains are much larger in plantation forestry: the policy leads to a large increase in forestry area but a net loss of scrub area in the simulations. Moreover, carbon storage per unit land area is higher in plantation forestry. Second, scrub is a residual land-use in the spatial algorithm resulting in some reshuffling of scrub cells over

4 The model does not allow for on-farm mitigation by reductions in land-use intensity. The intensification of dairy is modelled using exogenous time trends, but intensity is not a choice variable (Timar and Kerr, 2014).

<sup>3</sup> Lack of international action coupled with strong domestic policy in New Zealand could be strategically used to reinforce the country's clean green image in an increasingly environmentally conscious world. Product differentiation building on this image could potentially enable farmers to charge a price premium for their produce. This possibility is not considered in the modelling.

<sup>5</sup> I allow the discount rate to differ from the interest rate and use  $\delta = 0.08$  and r = 0.05 to calculate the annuity with region-specific data on forestry carbon flows. A less conservative (lower) discount rate would lead to a higher annuity value and hence greater net gains from conversion to forestry. If the discount rate was set to equal r, the annuity would be around 20% higher.

<sup>6</sup> Carver et al. (2016) explore the magnitude of windfall gains to forest owners in New Zealand.

simulation years, making it difficult to identify additional scrub. As a result of the churn, predictions of sequestration and loss in scrub may be unreliable.<sup>7,8</sup>

In addition to the abandonment and afforestation of productive land, I allow sheep-beef farmers to mitigate through the establishment of plantation forests on scrubland. The rewards associated with this afforestation are allocated to the sheep-beef sector on the assumption that there is significant overlap between the ownership of scrub and marginal sheep-beef land.<sup>9</sup> To the extent that scrub is not in fact owned by sheep-beef farmers, this assumption will lead to an overstatement of potential benefits to farmers in the sector (but it does not affect the estimate of overall benefits that accrue to landowners within a geographic area).

Finally, in evaluating the policy's effects on sheep-beef farms, I include only land that is under sheep-beef or scrub use both in the baseline 2030 scenario and in the base year, 2012. That is, only areas that were in sheep-beef or scrub use in 2012 and are also expected to remain in one of these uses without climate policy in 2030 are included. The policy evaluation is naturally relative to the baseline scenario, so the condition on baseline land use is selfexplanatory. The condition on 2012 land use is for simplicity and concreteness – it makes the discussion more relevant to present-day sheep-beef farmers (as opposed to a set of hypothetical future sheep-beef farmers).<sup>10</sup>

#### 3 Data

The underlying data for the LURNZ model have been extensively documented by Timar (2011), Kerr and Olssen (2012), Anastasiadis et al. (2014) and Timar and Kerr (2014). The spatial model is built on detailed GIS data on land use and geophysical land attributes. Data of similarly fine resolution on farm profits is not available. In considering some of the financial implications of the policy for farmers, I rely on industry figures of average profitability for certain types of farms and classify land areas accordingly.

I use a map of potential farm classes (Hendy et al., dataset, 2009) as the basis to classify sheep and beef farms. The classification is derived from the farm classes Beef + Lamb New Zealand (B+L) have developed to categorise farm types in economic reports. The actual location

<sup>7</sup> There is an asymmetry in LURNZ with regard to scrub reward. The amount of land-use change in the national module is estimated with the assumption that native sequestration is rewarded, but accounting for these rewards spatially and allocating them to specific farm types is problematic.

<sup>8</sup> Establishing native vegetation on abandoned pasture can be a low cost mitigation option. Unless the land is converted again, the amount of carbon stored in native forests accumulates year after year because these forests are not harvested. By ignoring native sequestration, I therefore potentially underestimate farmers' ability to benefit from the policy. However, native sequestration is slow, and pine forests can also be permanent so this omission is unlikely to be large relative to the impacts of potential pine plantations which are the focus of this paper.

<sup>9</sup> Marginal sheep-beef land and scrub are often similar in land quality and location. Land-use data suggest that some of the current scrub area is formerly abandoned sheep-beef pasture.

<sup>10</sup> As it turns out, this condition is not very restrictive. Because of an expected decreasing trend in sheep-beef area, nearly all baseline sheep-beef was in the same use in 2012. Scrub area increases under the baseline, but practically all of the increase comes from the abandonment of sheep-beef pasture. Overall, less than 1% (around 80,000 hectares) of baseline sheep-beef or scrub is excluded from the analysis by specifying conditions on 2012 land use.

of land corresponding to each B+L farm class is not known, so Hendy et al. utilise supplementary information on assessed land type (from meshblock-level valuations data by Quotable Value New Zealand), biological land productivity (Baisden, 2006) and slope to map potential farm classes nationally. These aim to identify the farm class that the land would likely be in if it were used as a sheep-beef farm.

Observing the distribution of (actual) land uses across (potential) farm classes provides a simple robustness check on the map. Table 1 contains statistics based on overlaying the 2012 LURNZ basemap, the most current map available in LURNZ, with the potential farm class map. It confirms that more intensive farm classes tend to be associated with more intensive land-use types. In a similar manner, geophysical land attributes are expected to vary systematically with land-use intensity.

Farm class	Dairy	Sheep-beef	Forestry	Scrub
SI high country	0.09	88.76	1.63	9.52
SI hill country	1.18	79.46	7.15	12.21
NI hard hill country	1.45	67.19	11.77	19.60
NI hill country	6.02	52.57	19.84	21.57
NI intensive finishing	22.20	57.65	11.37	8.77
SI finishing-breeding	9.74	72.53	8.86	8.87
SI mixed/intensive finishing	16.49	73.09	5.93	4.48

Table 1: Land use shares (percentage in 2012) by potential farm class

Notes: SI and NI stand for South Island and North Island. Farm classes are ordered by B+L's ranking of sheep-beef land-use intensity.

Table 2 summarises two measures of land quality for sheep-beef land within each potential farm class. Both slope and land use capability (LUC) show the expected patterns across the various farm classes.

Farm class	Mean slope	Mean LUC
SI high country	15.66	6.45
SI hill country	13.63	6.00
NI hard hill country	10.21	5.75
NI hill country	9.79	5.66
NI intensive finishing	6.39	4.80
SI finishing-breeding	7.28	4.83
SI mixed/intensive finishing	5.43	4.25

Table 2: Sheep-beef land attributes by potential farm class (based on 2012 land use)

The total area of sheep-beef land in each potential farm class can also be determined using the LURNZ basemap. The third data column of Table 3 contains this information (with the preceding two columns providing a break-down by land ownership type). The final column of Table 3 lists B+L area estimates against which mapped area can be compared. It appears that land areas by (potential) farm class in the 2012 map differ, in some cases markedly, from the land areas provided by B+L.

Farm class		Map area		
	Private	Public	Total	
SI high country	128,500	394,750	523,250	1,758,800
SI hill country	604,050	735,750	1,339,800	1,264,900
NI hard hill country	513,775	15,450	529,225	1,057,400
NI hill country	814,150	47,650	861,800	1,799,300
NI intensive finishing	2,311,775	157,750	2,469,525	482,100
SI finishing-breeding	1,619,625	309,325	1,928,950	1,373,500
SI mixed/intensive finishing	925,575	205,075	1,130,650	594,900
Total New Zealand	6,917,450	1,865,750	8,783,200	8,330,900

Table 3: A comparison of mapped sheep-beef area to Beef + Lamb area estimates by farm class in 2012 (hectares)

In general, B+L estimate that that there is less intensive and more extensive sheep-beef than suggested by the intersection of the two maps. In addition, the total area of sheep-beef pasture differs by about 5% across the data sources. At spatial scales more detailed than farm class areas, previous LURNZ land-use maps have been found to be highly consistent with data from Statistics New Zealand and DairyNZ (Anastasiadis et al., 2014), and the 2012 map is expected to be of similarly high quality. Although the potential farm class map is also based on geographic information, it was not actually designed to reflect the current management of the land. In theory, differences between map and B+L farm class areas could therefore indicate that some land is underutilised and not used to its full potential.<sup>11</sup> The magnitude of the differences seen in the table is nonetheless surprising.

These statistics suggest that despite the generally robust patterns observed in the potential farm class map, the classification may not be perfectly aligned with the definitions used by B+L: based on land characteristics and QVNZ assessments, some areas should be able to support more intensive types of sheep-beef farming, but B+L tend to classify them as extensive. This issue does not affect modelled emissions and liabilities in LURNZ.<sup>12</sup> However, in this paper I assign profits to sheep-beef farmers based on potential farm class. If B+L profit figures consistently reflect the B+L farm class definitions, then my analysis will potentially overstate profits in relation to liabilities for some sheep-beef farmers – this would bias the relative impact of emission charges for the affected farm classes downward. In section 4.3, I address the problem by reweighting B+L profit per hectare values to reflect discrepancies in farm class areas.

#### 4 **Results**

#### 4.1 Land-use response

Table 4 displays national land-use summaries for the key land-use types in LURNZ in 2012 and both future scenarios. Comparing the baseline and policy columns, the land-use impact of the policy is largest, both in absolute and relative terms, for forestry. For other land uses, the impact is similar in magnitude to the amount of land-use change expected to occur between 2012 and 2030 with no climate change policy (that is, under the baseline scenario).<sup>13</sup> These results are based entirely on the econometrically estimated national land-use change model within LURNZ and provide context to further analysis.

<sup>11</sup> If this were the case, the differences would represent an actual phenomenon rather than data problems. Unfortunately, it is not possible to assess the degree to which this explanation contributes to the patterns observed across the last two columns of Table 3. The accuracy of the B+L area estimates is not known either. 12 Overall emissions are calibrated to the National Inventory in the model. Spatially, sheep-beef emissions are primarily determined by the stocking rate. Farm class has only a small impact through the average ratio of sheep and beef stock units.

<sup>13</sup> The area of public sheep and beef land is fixed by assumption.

Land use	2012	Baseline 2030	Policy 2030
Dairy	1,596	95	62
Sheep-beef: private	6,917	-284	-241
Sheep-beef: public	1,866	0	0
Forestry	1,363	-25	371
Scrub	1,451	214	-192

Table 4: National land use areas in 2012 and land-use change under both simulation scenarios (thousand hectares).

Note: Land-use change under the baseline is relative to 2012; land-use change under the policy scenario is relative to the baseline.

The increase in dairy area induced by the policy is a surprising result (also discussed in Kerr et al., 2012). Econometrically, it happens because the positive effect of falling sheep-beef returns outweighs the negative effect of falling dairy returns on dairy land use. This outcome is incompatible with simple profit-maximisation, but it reflects the way in which land use has historically responded to changing returns driven by commodity prices.

The spatial pattern of land-use change is determined by the land-use allocation algorithm of LURNZ. The algorithm utilises results of an empirical land-use choice model (Timar, 2011), but other assumptions embedded in it also affect the simulated transitions. While it is not expected to pinpoint where exactly land-use change will take place, the model has been shown to be able to identify the type and general location of land that would be subject to pressure to change (Anastasiadis et al., 2014).

Most of the land-use response affects land in sheep-beef and scrub use. Table 5and Table 6 shed further light on the amount and type of land-use change generated by the policy, focusing on these two uses, respectively.<sup>14</sup>

Figure 1 and Figure 2 present the same information visually and in proportional terms. Land abandonment (land-use change to scrub) is the dominant response on low quality sheepbeef pasture as some parts of farms may become unprofitable in the face of emission charges. There is also a limited amount of afforestation, particularly in the North Island. As discussed previously, some sheep-beef land in intensive farm classes undergoes further intensification in the simulations and is converted to dairying.

<sup>14</sup> The baseline areas in Table 5 and Table 6 do not exactly aggregate to the national areas shown in Table 4. This is due to a constraint involving 2012 land use which will be covered in the next section.

Farm class	Baseline	Changing to		
	2030 area	Dairy	Forestry	Scrub
SI high country	113	0.0	0.2	4.9
SI hill country	567	0.4	2.1	16.6
NI hard hill country	473	0.6	3.1	17.4
NI hill country	761	0.6	14.4	17.9
NI intensive finishing	2,198	17.3	14.6	28.5
SI finishing-breeding	1,554	13.3	3.6	17.3
SI mixed/intensive finishing	905	13.7	0.9	5.4

Table 5: Land-use response to policy on private sheep-beef land (thousand hectares)



Figure 1: Percentage of private sheep-beef area converting to another use by farm class

Table 6 and Figure 2 show that, in both absolute and relative terms, the simulated landuse response is largest for scrub, and nearly all of this response is associated with afforestation. The ability to earn rewards for carbon sequestration under the policy could present a significant opportunity to owners of this land (many of whom are sheep-beef farmers).<sup>15</sup>

<sup>15</sup> Model validation suggests that for a given amount of afforestation, LURNZ tends to overestimate the proportion that comes from scrub, and, conversely, it tends to underestimate the proportion that comes from sheep-beef (Anastasiadis et al., 2014). All else equal, the cost of establishing forestry on sheep-beef land is higher due to the opportunity cost of lost production. Note, however, that in LURNZ results close to 20% of afforestation affecting baseline scrub takes place on land that was actually in sheep-beef use in 2012: rather than being abandoned (as under the baseline) this land is afforested under the policy.

Farm class	Baseline Char		Changing to	nging to	
r ar m class	Daschine		changing to		
	2030 area	Dairy	Sheep-beef	Forestry	
SI high country	71	0.0	0.0	1.2	
SI hill country	241	0.0	0.1	15.6	
NI hard hill country	193	0.0	0.0	24.0	
NI hill country	396	0.0	0.0	106.2	
NI intensive finishing	421	0.4	0.0	100.4	
SI finishing-breeding	253	0.1	0.1	30.1	
SI mixed/intensive finishing	71	0.1	0.1	4.6	

Table 6: Land-use response to policy on scrub land (thousand hectares)

Figure 2: Percentage of scrub area converting to another use by farm class



These land-use changes directly determine the evolution of land-based emissions in LURNZ. Table 7 contrasts pastoral emissions in the base year as well as both future scenarios. Modelled emissions at the national level are broadly consistent with NZ's national inventory (Timar, 2014).<sup>16</sup>

<sup>16</sup> The figures exclude emissions associated with the production of wool (around 4 Mt CO2e annually). Dairy intensification over time is captured by region-specific trends, but sheep-beef intensity is assumed constant, so changes in emissions associated with the sector reflect changes in land use. Compared to the baseline, total pastoral emissions rise slightly under the policy because the increase in emissions due to additional dairy conversions outweighs the decrease due to lost sheep-beef.

Land use	2012	Baseline 2030	Policy 2030
Dairy	14.25	16.35	16.97
Sheep-beef	11.76	11.46	11.10
Total pastoral	26.01	27.81	28.07

Table 7: Simulated pastoral emissions (million tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent)

#### 4.2 Implications for farm profitability

To set the scene in considering impacts on farmers, Table 8 contrasts sector-level average profits to liabilities for pastoral emissions under a hypothetical policy in 2012. Emissions cost \$25 per tonne CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent and there is no free allocation of allowances. Given the observed land use in 2012, the average impact of this policy would be around 11% loss of profit for dairy farmers and 17% loss of profit for sheep-beef famers.<sup>17,18</sup>

Table 8: Sector-level average profits and emission liabilities (\$) under a hypothetical 2012 policy

Land use	Profit/ha	Liability/ha	% impact
Dairy	2033.67	223.24	-10.98
Sheep-beef	194.00	33.47	-17.25

Note: The hypothetical 2012 policy is a \$25 carbon price with no free allocation and no land-use response

These national-level statistics are consistent with results based on a different methodology in Kerr and Zhang (2009). However, the averages mask a wide distribution of potential outcomes, particularly in the sheep-beef sector. The figures in Table 8 also ignore the possibility of mitigation via land-use change. Different farmers will tend to respond differently: as we have seen, some will find it profitable to plant trees, and some others may choose to abandon parts of previously grazed land. These land-use responses were summarised in Table 5 and Table 6.

Ability to mitigate emission liabilities by changing land use is represented in Figure 3. The figure compares net liabilities under the baseline (no land-use response) and the policy (land-use response) scenarios for sheep-beef farms in 2030. For each farm class, the background bar in the chart represents average liability per hectare under the baseline scenario in 2030. The

<sup>17</sup> Average profits are based on multiple years of data to address annual variation reflecting patterns in weather and changes in economic conditions. In both sectors, the figures represent the mean of national-level profits over the seven seasons 2005/2006 to 2011/2012. Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) from B+L Economic Service is used for sheep-beef profits and Economic Farm Surplus (EFS) from MPI monitor farm reports is used for dairy profits. (All but one of the monitor farm reports indicate that EFS is identical to EBIT.)

<sup>18</sup> Emission liabilities shown in the table are spatially aggregated from the LURNZ emissions module output for the base year, 2012 (Timar and Kerr, 2014). Figures shown are per effective hectare.

foreground bar represents net liabilities in 2030 when land-use is allowed to respond to the policy. Net liabilities include emissions associated with meat production (Timar and Kerr, 2014) as well as any rewards earned under the policy for the afforestation of land that was previously used for sheep-beef farming or left to scrub. The figure illustrates the large heterogeneity that exists both in terms of emissions per hectare and the ability to respond across farm classes.



Figure 3: Simulated net emission liabilities per hectare for sheep-beef farms in 2030 (with and without a land-use response)

For most farm classes, the land-use response reduces liabilities. This is due to a combination of lower pastoral emissions (abandoned or afforested sheep-beef land) and rewards earned for carbon sequestration (for new forests planted on sheep-beef or scrub). The reward component dominates on North Island hill country farms, where a large fraction of simulated afforestation happens, leading to a particularly effective mitigation response there. The reward associated with forestry offsets a large proportion of liabilities here. In the South Island mixed/intensive finishing farm class, the land-use response increases net emission liabilities because the effect of additional dairy conversions under the policy dominates that of other land-use changes.

Liabilities are related to stocking rates, so intensive production systems naturally face higher liabilities than extensive ones. However, they are also more profitable and their losses tend to be smaller as a percentage of profit. This pattern is seen in Table 9, where losses are expressed in proportion to (current) average profit. As previously, losses include changes in emission liabilities net of any (appropriately annualised) reward for sequestration earned during the first ten years of newly established plantation forests.

Farm class	Profit/ha	% change with	
		No Response	Response
SI high country	20.06	-23.54	-21.99
SI hill country	75.74	-14.36	-12.58
NI hard hill country	168.45	-25.11	-19.12
NI hill country	254.94	-18.03	-8.34
NI intensive finishing	334.80	-16.42	-14.33
SI finishing-breeding	275.63	-8.44	-8.47
SI mixed/intensive finishing	582.02	-5.60	-5.96

Table 9: Average profits (\$) and the relative impact of the policy in 2030 (without and with a land-useresponse) by sheep-beef farm class

Notes: Farm class profits reflect the definition of farm classes as used by B+L. Because emissions and sequestration are modelled geographically, percentage changes are calculated based on the areas defined in the map of potential farm classes.

High country and hill country farm classes on average lose a higher proportion of their pre-policy profits to emission liabilities. The final column indicates that in some cases, especially in North Island hill country, sequestration rewards allow farmers to offset a significant fraction of liabilities: here, annualised rewards (for the first 10 years of forest growth) are projected to equal more than half of sheep-beef farmers' liabilities.

The potential inconsistency in farm class definitions outlined in the data section affects the analysis in Table 9 because profits are determined based on B+L farm class. The inconsistency would cause higher than actual profits to be assigned to some areas making the proportional impact of the policy seem less severe. Exploiting the land area differences in Table 3, I therefore revise profits for better consistency with the potential farm class map.

In order of increasing intensity by island, I determine the area of each B+L farm class that would need to be reclassified to match map area.<sup>19</sup> Assuming homogeneity in profits within each B+L farm class, I assign the profit value characteristic of the original (lower) B+L class to the amount of land reclassified. For example, Table 3 indicates that the B+L estimate for South Island hill country area (1,758,800 ha) exceeds map area (523,250 ha) by 1,235,550 hectares. I therefore assign the \$20.06 profit per hectare associated with high country to 1,235,550 hectares of South Island hill country land (as well as to the 523,250 hectares of high country in

<sup>19</sup> The calculation actually performed is based on map area scaled to match total B+L area by island. For the sake of simplicity, the example that follows ignores the scaling.

the map). To match hill country map area, this in turn means that hill country profitability needs to be assigned to a similar amount of South Island finishing-breeding land, and so on. I calculate a weighted average profit for each potential farm class based on the amount of land that is associated with the profitability of the previous (more extensive) farm class. The revised profits thus take account of the area discrepancies across the data sources.

Unless profits are homogenous within B+L farm classes, the method outlined above suggests that the revised (weighted) profits will be likely overestimates for the most extensive potential farm class on each island and underestimates for all other farm classes. Table 10 repeats the analysis from the previous page with the revised profit figures, providing an additional robustness check on the results.<sup>20</sup>

Farm class	Profit/ha	% change with	
		No Response	Response
SI high country	20.06	-23.54	-21.99
SI hill country	25.41	-42.79	-37.51
NI hard hill country	168.45	-25.11	-19.12
NI hill country	185.35	-24.79	-11.47
NI intensive finishing	312.38	-17.60	-15.36
SI finishing-breeding	150.13	-15.49	-15.54
SI mixed/intensive finishing	275.63	-11.82	-12.59

Table 10: Weighted average profits (\$) and the relative impact of the policy in 2030 (without and with a land-use response) by sheep-beef farm class

Note: Farm class profits in this table represent weighted B+L figures to address land area discrepancies across the datasets.

As before, extensive farm classes tend to lose a higher proportion of their pre-policy profits to emission liabilities.<sup>21</sup> The profits for some farm classes are significantly lower than before, and consequently the policy impact is larger. These impacts are based on primarily conservative assumptions made at different stages of modelling, including assumptions about mitigation options, rewards for sequestration and average profits – for most farm classes they likely represent pessimistic outcomes. The impacts also do not include any complementary policies such as free allocation of allowances. For comparison, a 50% free allocation tied to historic emissions would be sufficient to make the average farmer in North Island hill country

<sup>20</sup> With the weighting, the implied national average is \$184.50 profit per hectare of sheep-beef land, about \$10 lower than the value calculated from observed data in Table 8. This confirms that, overall, the weighted profits represent conservative estimates.

<sup>21</sup> South Island high country is an exception to the pattern, but this is not surprising in light of the discussion in the previous paragraph.

better off than before the policy, and it would significantly reduce losses in other farm classes as well.

### 5 Conclusion

Using simulations from the LURNZ model, I assess sheep-beef farmers' mitigation responses to climate change policy and show how the results vary across various types of land. There is large heterogeneity in the land-use response and the magnitude of impact experienced in different sheep-beef farm classes.

The land-use change elicited by climate policy imposes costs on farmers, but it can also present some opportunities. Farmers in intensive farm classes tend to mitigate little and bear the costs of emissions because the opportunity cost of exiting pastoral agriculture would be high. The dominant land-use response in more extensive systems is land abandonment or afforestation, but opportunities for carbon credits from afforestation are not evenly distributed.

In comparing carbon credits to liabilities, I convert the credits a farmer would be able to sell with certainty (without taking a carbon price risk) to an indefinite annual flow of income. Relative to average profits, lower profitability systems tend to face higher liabilities both before and after the land-use response. Farmers in less intensive North Island farm classes may benefit most from carbon rewards. Results suggest that income from rewards could on average offset as much as half of emission liabilities on North Island hill country farms.

Complementary policies to assist with community transition are also important. A key factor for farmers is whether (and how) allowances are allocated. The potential transfer of wealth through allocation is large, and farms that can also take advantage of opportunities presented by carbon credits could actually benefit from the policy with free allocation tied to historical emissions. This would be most likely on North Island hill country areas, where forestry is already an important part of the local economy.

Loss of rural profit is likely to translate into lower land values affecting current owners of agricultural land (Allan and Kerr, 2016). The sensitivity of land values to profit loss depends on location. Specifically, amenity values (the attractiveness of the land as a place to live) and option values (for example, the potential for future residential development) are not directly affected by the policy, so these would tend to mitigate the impact on land values in some places. All else equal, rural land close to cities is therefore expected to be less affected. On the other hand, a given loss of profit would result in a larger proportional decrease in value for land farther away from population centres and amenities.

Urban areas are also not completely immune to changes in rural profitability. Some of the effects of agricultural greenhouse gas mitigation could trickle down into urban markets, and not just through food prices. Grimes and Hyland (2013), for example, find empirical evidence that lost rural profit can affect nearby urban communities in the form of depressed housing values.

15

My analysis identifies some plausible differences in the impact of climate policy across regions and sheep-beef farm types in New Zealand. If the international community does not act on agricultural emissions as strongly as New Zealand does, farmers here will likely lose because they are largely price takers in international markets (Woods and Coleman, 2011). With strong international policy, the liabilities faced by farmers would be at least partially offset by higher commodity prices. While the overall impact of climate policy ultimately depends on international action (Reisinger and Stroombergen, 2012; Dorner and Kerr, 2015), the heterogeneity in sheep-beef farmers' response to carbon pricing remains. Qualitatively, the patterns of impact identified in this paper are therefore expected to hold for a range of assumptions about international action.

## References

- Allan, Corey and Suzi Kerr. 2016, forthcoming. "Show me the profits: Examining the relationship between agricultural profitability and rural land values in New Zealand over time," *Motu Working Paper*, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Anastasiadis, Simon; Suzi Kerr; Wei Zhang; Corey Allan and William Power. 2014. "Land Use in Rural New Zealand: Spatial Land Use, Land-use Change, and Model Validation," *Motu Working Paper* 14-07, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Baisden, W. T. 2006. "Agricultural and Forest Productivity for Modelling Policy Scenarios: Evaluating Approaches for New Zealand Greenhouse Gas Mitigation," *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 36:1, pp. 1-15. Available online at <u>http://www.royalsociety.org.nz/includes/download.aspx?ID=85496</u>.Dorner, Zack and Suzi Kerr. 2015.

"Methane and Metrics: From global climate policy to the NZ farm," *Motu Working Paper* 15-11, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.

- Carver, Thomas; Patrick Dawson and Suzi Kerr. 2016, forthcoming. "Including forestry in an emissions trading system: lessons from New Zealand," *Motu Working Paper*, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Grimes, Arthur and Sean Hyland. 2013. "Passing the Buck: Impacts of Commodity Price Shocks on Local Outcomes," *Motu Working Paper* 13-10. Wellington: Motu Economic and Public Policy Research.
- Hendy, Jo; Kelly Lock; Suzi Kerr and Wei Zhang. "Map of potential farm classes and profitability in different regions from pastoral activities," Obtained by Motu Research in 2009. Restricted raw dataset. Details online at <u>http://www.motu.org.nz/building-capacity/datasets</u>.
- Kerr, Suzi; Simon Anastasiadis; Alex Olssen; William Power; Levente Timar and Wei Zhang. 2012. "Spatial and Temporal Responses to an Emissions Trading Scheme Covering Agriculture and Forestry: Simulation Results from New Zealand," *Forests* 3:4, 1133-1156.
- Kerr, Suzi and Alex Olssen. 2012. "Gradual Land-use Change in New Zealand: Results from a Dynamic Econometric Model," *Motu Working Paper* 12-06, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Kerr, Suzi and Wei Zhang. 2009. "Allocation of New Zealand Units within Agriculture in the Emissions Trading System," *Motu Working Paper* 09-16. Motu Working Paper Series. Wellington: Motu Economic and Public Policy Research.
- Lock, Kelly; Joanna Hendy and Suzi Kerr. 2006. "Sheep and Beef Production Costs Across New Zealand: Introducing the Spatial Dimension," No 31952, 2006 Conference, August 24-25, 2006, Nelson, New Zealand, New Zealand Agricultural and Resource Economics Society, http://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:ags:nzasin:31952.
- Reisinger, A. and A. Stroombergen. 2011. "Implications of Alternative Metrics to Account for Non-CO2 GHG Emissions," Report prepared for the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry by AgResearch and Infometrics.
- Sin, Isabelle; Emma Brunton; Joanna Hendy and Suzi Kerr. 2005. "The likely regional impacts of an agricultural emissions policy in New Zealand: Preliminary analysis," *Motu Working Paper* 05-08, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Timar, Levente. 2011. "Rural Land Use and Land Tenure in New Zealand," *Motu Working Paper* 11-13, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.
- Timar, Levente and Suzi Kerr. 2014. "Land-Use Intensity and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the LURNZ Model," *Motu Working Paper* 14-03. Wellington: Motu Economic and Public Policy Research.
- Woods, Darian and Andrew Coleman. 2012. "Price, Quality, and International Agricultural Trade," *Motu Working Paper* 12-08, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research, Wellington.

## **Recent Motu Working Papers**

All papers in the Motu Working Paper Series are available on our website www.motu.nz, or by contacting us on info@motu.org.nz or +64 4 939 4250.

- 16-08 Jaffe, Adam, Trinh Le and Nathan Chappell. 2016. "Productivity distribution and drivers of productivity growth in the construction industry."
- 16-07 Fabling, Richard, Arthur Grimes and Levente Timar. 2016. "Labour market dynamics following a regional disaster."
- 16-06 Leining, Catherine and Suzi Kerr. 2016. "Lessons Learned from the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme."
- 16-05 Grimes, Arthur, Judd Omsby, Anna Robinson, Siu Yuat Wong. 2016. "Subjective wellbeing impacts of national and subnational fiscal policies."
- 16-04 Ryan Greenaway-McGrevy, Arthur Grimes, Mark Holmes. 2016. "Two Countries, Sixteen Cities, Five Thousand Kilometres: How Many Housing Markets?"
- 16-03 Fabling, Richard and Lynda Sanderson. 2016. "A Rough Guide to New Zealand's Longitudinal Business Database (2<sup>nd</sup> edition)."
- 16-02 MacCulloch, Robert. 2016 "Can "happiness data" help evaluate economic policies?"
- 16-01 Gørgens, Tue and Dean Hyslop. 2016. "The specification of dynamic discrete-time two-state panel data models"
- 15-20 Maré David C., Ruth M. Pinkerton and Jacques Poot. 2015. "Residential Assimilation of Immigrants: A Cohort Approach."
- 15-19 Timar, Levente, Arthur Grimes and Richard Fabling. 2015. "Before a Fall: Impacts of Earthquake Regulation and Building Codes on the Commercial Market"
- 15-18 Maré David C., Dean R. Hyslop and Richard Fabling. 2015. "Firm Productivity Growth and Skill."
- 15-17 Fabling, Richard and David C. Maré. 2015. "Addressing the absence of hours information in linked employer-employee data."
- 15-16 Thirkettle, Matt and Suzi Kerr. 2015. "Predicting harvestability of existing *Pinus radiata* stands: 2013-2030 projections of stumpage profits from pre-90 and post-89 forests"
- 15-15 Fabling, Richard and David C. Maré. 2015. "Production function estimation using New Zealand's Longitudinal Business Database."
- 15-14 Grimes, Arthur, Robert MacCulloch and Fraser McKay. 2015. "Indigenous Belief in a Just World: New Zealand Maori and other Ethnicities Compared."
- 15-13 Apatov, Eyal, Richard Fabling, Adam Jaffe, Michele Morris and Matt Thirkettle. 2015. "Agricultural Productivity in New Zealand: First estimates from the Longitudinal Business Database."
- 15-12 Laws, Athene, Jason Gush, Victoria Larsen and Adam B Jaffe. 2015. "The effect of public funding on research output: The New Zealand Marsden Fund."
- 15-11 Dorner, Zachary and Suzi Kerr. 2015. "Methane and Metrics: From global climate policy to the NZ farm."
- 15-10 Grimes, Arthur and Marc Reinhardt. 2015. "Relative Income and Subjective Wellbeing: Intranational and Inter-national Comparisons by Settlement and Country Type"
- 15-09 Grimes, Arthur and Sean Hyland. 2015. "A New Cross-Country Measure of Material Wellbeing and Inequality: Methodology, Construction and Results."
- 15-08 Jaffe, Adam and Trinh Le. 2015. "The impact of R&D subsidy of innovation: a study of New Zealand firms."
- 15-07 Duhon, Madeline, Hugh McDonald and Suzi Kerr. 2015 "Nitrogen Trading in Lake Taupo: An Analysis and Evaluation of an Innovative Water Management Policy.

